Grand Rapids Area Coalition to End Homelessness
MI-506 Grand Rapids/Wyoming/Kent County Continuum of Care

Coordinated Entry Policies

Approved by Steering Council: 10/16/2020

Contents

SECTION 1: WHAT IS COORDINATED ENTRY?	2
Introduction	2
Terms and Definitions	3
SECTION 2: ACCESS	4
Access Points	4
Compliance with Violence Against Women Act	6
Preventing Family Separation	7
Education	7
Safety Planning & Risk Assessment	7
Outreach	7
After-Hours & Emergency Services	8
Access to Technology	8
SECTION 3: ASSESSMENT	
Standardized Assessment Approach	8
Phases of the Assessment	
Assessing Set-Aside Prioritization Pools	9
Consumer Autonomy and Disclosure of Disability	
Homeless Preference Housing Choice Voucher Waitlist	
SECTION 4: PRIORITIZATION	10
Prioritization of Risk	10
Influential Factors	
By Name List Prioritization and Prioritization Pools	
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH)	11
SECTION 5: REFFERAL	11
Referral Process	
Veteran Referrals	
Prevention	
Referrals using Dynamic Prioritization	12
System Case Conferencing	
SECTION 6: COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES	
Consumers	
Partner Agencies	
SECTION 7: DATA SYSTEM(S)	14
Consumer Consent Process	
Data and Privacy Protections	
SECTION 8: TRAINING AND EVALUATION	
System Transparency and Evaluation	
SECTION 9: APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Sources	
Appendix B: Consumer Consent Form	
Appendix C: Common Assessment Tool and Risk Assignments	
Influential Risk Factors	
Appendix D: Prioritization of Persons Experiencing Chronic Homelessness Policy	18

SECTION 1: WHAT IS COORDINATED ENTRY?

Introduction

The Grand Rapids Area Coalition to End Homelessness, also known as the Grand Rapids/Wyoming/Kent County Continuum of Care entity and here forward referenced as the CoC, is committed to ending homelessness across Kent County. Coordinated entry is an important process through which people experiencing or at risk of homelessness can access the crisis response system in a streamlined way, have their strengths and needs quickly addressed, and quickly connect to appropriate, tailored housing and mainstream services within the community. The Coordinated Entry (CE) system in Kent County is a crossagency community-wide approach to ending homelessness. This document is designed to outline the foundational policies of our community. It outlines how families and individuals experiencing a housing crisis flow through the coordinated entry system, from assessment to referral, and all associated policies. Further, this document outlines policies in compliance with the CPD-17-01: Notice Establishing Additional Requirements for a Continuum of Care Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System.

Coordinated Entry (CE) helps people in Kent County, who are or are about to become homeless. This process treats homelessness like the crisis it is, and supports an equitable, efficient response to families and individuals experiencing homelessness. The response is focused on immediately helping persons secure a safe place to stay, while at the same time, partnering to find a permanent solution to the homeless episode. Access points and services are coordinated with the Continuum of Care Coordinated Entry program, Housing Assessment Program (HAP) with the goal of addressing the unique and immediate needs of households who are experiencing homelessness which should be rare, brief, and non-recurring.

Coordinated Entry assesses and evaluates the psychological, safety, and material conditions related to a person's housing crisis. It identifies those conditions that require immediate attention (those that pose the greatest danger or threat), while supporting the development of a permanent housing plan. Upon review of available services and completion of the Community Housing Connect assessment, households have the option of scheduling an appointment with a Community Solutions Specialist. CE reduces stress related to the experience of being homeless by limiting assessment wait times and interviews while focusing on only the most pertinent information necessary to solve the immediate housing crisis.

A component of Coordinated Entry is the utilization of Supported Solutions. Supported Solutions is a strategy that seeks to quickly resolve a housing crisis for families and individuals who need temporary, immediate, and safe housing accommodations. Supported Solutions seeks to help families and individuals identify resources and immediate alternatives to needing shelter, connecting them to services and other assistance as necessary and when available. Supported Solutions is a person-centered and strength-based approach, relying on a consumer's own strengths and resources as the best means to resolve their housing crisis. A Supported Solutions conversation can occur during screening or assessment. The Supported Solutions component incorporates a model of diversion at the both the "front door" of the system, and for the duration of the consumer's housing crisis.

Coordinated Entry makes referrals through the completion of a self-anchored, self-assessment of risk, which includes protective and predictive factors that influence the overall health and well-being of families and individuals experiencing a housing crisis. Coordinated Entry utilizes a phased assessment approach to determine the appropriate housing intervention needed and desired. Coordinated Entry screens to determine if families and individuals are: housed but need resources; at imminent risk of homelessness (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) category 2); or, literally homeless (HUD category 1).

Threat or danger levels are highest for persons experiencing unsheltered homelessness (meaning they are residing in a place not meant for human habitation) and for whom there is actual or perceived violence against any household member occurring in their primary nighttime residence. Additionally, Coordinated Entry takes into consideration a person's involvement with child welfare, the safety and/or livability of the current environment, previous episodes of homelessness, and financial stability. Emergency and urgent concerns identified by the individual are prioritized first through the provision of housing and services. Fundamental needs and the overall health of the individual is assessed and prioritized for non-urgent community-based services.

As persons experiencing a housing crisis complete the CE assessment, the following coordinated entry core components are completed to ensure appropriate referrals and resources are provided:

- **1.** Access: Access points are the virtual or physical places where a person in need of assistance accesses the coordinated entry process.
- 2. Assessment/Prioritization of Risk: Coordinated Entry utilizes a standardized process to determine need and eligibility, as well as discern primary needs and their urgency. A face-to-face assessment is scheduled for those who are literally homeless (including attempting to or fleeing domestic violence), seeking shelter or, if prevention funding is available, for those that need prevention financial assistance (at imminent risk of homelessness- HUD Category 2.) A common assessment tool (provided in Appendix C) is administered at time of assessment, which identifies strengths, natural supports, and housing resources. CE ensures that consumers quickly receive access to the most appropriate resources and housing services available.
- **3. Referral**: Households prioritized and matched to a permanent housing resource are referred for services to the appropriate project.

Terms and Definitions

Assessment: The process of documenting consumer needs and strengths, identifying barriers to housing, and clarifying consumer's preferences and goals.

By Name List: A list used to identify persons experiencing homelessness in real time.

By Name List Prioritization: the use of by name list(s) to prioritize receipt of resources

Continuum of Care (CoC): Group responsible for the implementation of the requirements of HUD's CoC Program interim rule and the requirements set forth in this Policy. The CoC is composed of representatives of organizations, including nonprofit homeless providers, victim service providers, faith-based organizations, governments, businesses, advocates, public housing agencies, school districts, social service providers, mental health agencies, hospitals, universities, affordable housing developers, law enforcement, organizations that serve homeless and formerly homeless veterans, and homeless and formerly homeless persons.

Community Housing Connect: Web-based platform designed to progressively gather information necessary to evaluate risk and match consumers with needed resources.

Community Solutions Specialists: Trained staff at participating provider agencies who employ Supported Solutions and match consumers with available supports.

Dynamic Prioritization: the process used to identify the household(s) with the highest needs at that point-in-time in the prioritized group(s), determine if referral is appropriate based on needs and preferences, and consider their eligibility for program(s).

Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG): HUD funding source to (1) engage homeless individuals and families living on the street; (2) improve the quantity and quality of emergency shelters for homeless individuals and families; (3) help operate these shelters; (4) provide essential services to shelter residents; (5) rapidly rehouse homeless individuals and families; and (6) prevent families and individuals from becoming homeless.

Homeless Management Information System (HMIS): Local information technology system used by a CoC to collect participant-level data and data on the provision of housing and services to homeless individuals and families and to persons at risk of homelessness. Each CoC is responsible for selecting an HMIS software solution that complies with HUD's data collection, management, and reporting standards.

Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA): MSHDA serves as the state housing development authority and operates a variety of programs related to housing and homelessness in Michigan.

Prioritization: The process of identifying which households, among all those assessed, have the greatest needs and therefore receive accelerated assistance to available housing and services within the CE system.

Prioritization Pools: Population(s) or groups(s) targeted for prioritization based on community need, data, and funding availability.

Progressive Engagement: Progressive engagement is an approach that provides the minimum amount of assistance necessary to resolve a household's homeless situation. Progressive engagement allows for interventions to increase or decline based on the household's unique needs and ensures the CES is providing a "right-sized" approach to supportive housing services.

Set Aside Prioritization Pool: A pool of coordinated resources, assignments, and categories dedicated to address a specific community need or business case within a specific time frame.

Supported Solutions: Focuses on providing support to help families and individuals identify a safe, alternative housing option, even if temporary, at or immediately after entry into the coordinated entry system.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD): Federal agency responsible for administering housing homelessness programs including the CoC and ESG Programs.

U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs (VA): Federal agency responsible for providing health care and other services, including assistance to end homelessness, to veterans and their families.

SECTION 2: ACCESS

Access Points

Community Housing Connect is the designated access tool for families and individuals. The tool can be completed online, over the phone, or in-person. Common access points include the following, but are not limited to:

- 2-1-1
- The Housing Assessment Program
- Shelters
- Housing providers

- Community partner agencies
- Street outreach teams

Any agency interested in assisting with expanding access to our CE system can participate as an access point. Access points may assist consumers by providing a device to access an assessment tool online. They may also assist consumers in calling the Housing Assessment Program to walk through the tool over the telephone.

Each homeless assistance provider provides access to crisis response services for persons experiencing homelessness or at imminent risk of homelessness. All organizations utilizing CE must affirmatively market all housing and supportive services to eligible persons regardless of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, age, familial status, or disability who are least likely to apply in the absence of special outreach, and maintain records of those marketing activities. All services must be made available to families and individuals without regard to actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identify, or marital status in accordance with 24 CFR 5.105 (a) (2). Further, the CE system itself is affirmatively marketed to the broader community through a variety of methods. The CoC is responsible for documenting efforts to ensure all community members are aware of the CE system and how to access it. Street outreach efforts complement this goal by reaching those persons least likely to apply. Street outreach efforts are also documented by the CoC through the Outreach Committee.

The Kent County CoC uses Coordinated Entry as a standardized way to meet the immediate and long-term needs of all persons at-risk of or experiencing homelessness in the CoC's geographic area. Access to the CE system is available throughout the county. Further, the CoC Data Analysis and Coordinated Entry Committees use data to ensure all access is widely available.

Coordinated Entry ensures that services are physically accessible to persons with mobility barriers and that all communications and documentation is accessible to persons with limited ability to read and understand English. For households with English as a second language or a disability, Community Solutions Specialists coordinate with local agencies to provide services to ensure effective communication (e.g. translation services, braille, sign language interpreters, etc.) at all points of the coordinated entry process.

All services coordinated through Coordinated Entry are available to all eligible persons, regardless of actual or perceived race, color, national origin, religion, sex, age, familial status, disability, actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, marital status, height, or weight.

Each project participating in Coordinated Entry is required to post or otherwise make publicly available a notice (provided by the CoC) that describes the community's Coordinated Entry for the CoC. This notice should be posted in the agency waiting areas, as well as any areas where participants may congregate or receive services (e.g., dining hall). All staff at each agency are required to know which personnel within their agency can discuss and explain CE to a participant who seeks more information.

The CE system and partners adhere to all jurisdictionally relevant civil rights and fair housing laws and regulations. The CE and its partners take all necessary steps to ensure that housing and services are administered in accordance with all applicable Federal, State, and local civil rights laws, including, but not limited to:

a. Fair Housing Act, a Federal law which prohibits discriminatory housing practices based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, disability, or familial status.

- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, a Federal law which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.
- c. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin under any program receiving Federal financial assistance.
- d. Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibits public entities, which including State and local governments, from discriminating against individuals with disabilities in all their services, programs, and activities, which include housing, and housing-related services such as housing search and referral assistance.
- e. Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibits private entities that own, lease, and operate places of public accommodation, which include shelters, social service establishments, and other public accommodations providing housing, from discriminating on the basis of disability.
- f. HUD's Equal Access in Accordance with Gender Identity Rule, which prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation, gender identity, and marital status.
- g. Michigan's Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act, which prohibits discrimination based upon religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, familial status, or marital status.

All consumers shall be informed of their right to access housing and services without discrimination, and of their right to initiate a grievance process if they believe they have been discriminated against. Adherence to the requirements set forth in this policy is ensured through system evaluations and project compliance monitoring. If the system is found to be operating outside of the parameters set forth in this policy, the CE and Steering Committees are empowered to correct. If a project required to participate in the CE system is not compliant with the requirements outlined in this policy, corrective actions may be enacted by the project's funder.

Compliance with Violence Against Women Act

In accordance with the Violence Against Women Act of 2013, (VAWA), all participating providers must comply with the core protections of VAWA. Providers are prohibited from denying admission, evicting, or terminating assistance to an individual or family solely on the basis that the individual is a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, or sexual assault.

VAWA additionally requires the CoC and all CoC providers offering rental assistance to have an emergency transfer plan which allows tenants to qualify for a transfer to another unit when they believe, due to domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, or sexual assault, they cannot safely remain in their current unit. While housing providers first attempt to locate a safe unit within their own housing stock or with another provider, a safe unit may not be immediately available when a tenant qualifies for a transfer. In such cases, tenants who qualify for an emergency transfer, but for when a safe unit is not immediately available for an emergency transfer with the agency currently providing housing assistance, shall have priority over all other applicants for rapid rehousing, permanent supportive housing, and other rental assistance projects in the CoC provided that the:

- individual or family meets all eligibility criteria required by Federal law or regulation or HUD NOFA; and
- individual or family meets any additional criteria or preferences established in accordance with § 578.93(b)(1), (4), (6), or (7).

Preventing Family Separation

Families experiencing homelessness should not be separated when receiving services unless the health and wellbeing of children are at immediate risk. The age and gender of a child under the age of 18 shall not be used as a basis for denying a family's admission to any housing services. In addition, a broad definition of family must be used that allows for single parent households of any gender identity, two parent households including same sex parents and LGBT parents, and extended families to be served together with their children. Furthermore, in compliance with HUD's Equal Access in Accordance with Gender Identity Rule, all households that present as a family must be served together as a family, whether that family includes adults and children, or just adults, and regardless of the age, disability, marital status, actual or perceived sexual orientation, or gender identity of any member of the family.

Education

The educational needs of children and youth must be accounted for, to the maximum extent practicable, and families with children and unaccompanied youth must be placed as close as possible to the school of origin so as not to disrupt the children's education. Projects that serve homeless families with children and/or unaccompanied youth must have policies and practices in place that are consistent with the laws related to providing education services to children and youth. These recipients must have a designated staff person to ensure that children and youth are enrolled in school and receive education services. Homeless families with children and unaccompanied youth must be informed of their eligibility for McKinney-Vento education services and other available resources. Recipients shall maintain documentation in the participant's case file to demonstrate that these requirements have been met and that applicants and participants understand their rights.

Safety Planning & Risk Assessment

The completion of the Coordinated Entry screening determines immediate safety concerns, identification of the housing crisis, and next steps. Persons who are fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking have immediate and confidential access to available crisis services through a 24 hour hotline and domestic violence crisis center by calling the YWCA West Central MI (616-451-2744) or Safe Haven Ministries (616-452-6664).

Households that are housed and in need of resources, may receive information and referral to resources, including affordable housing. Households that are found to be at imminent risk of homelessness, literally homeless or fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence are provided an opportunity to schedule an appointment with a Community Solutions Specialist. To help solve their housing crisis, families and individuals could receive supported solutions, as well as financial assistance, if funding is available. A progressive assessment model is utilized to evaluate ongoing risk and higher level of service intervention.

Based on demographic information, special populations may be referred to other agencies for intake as appropriate. Any family with school-aged children are referred to McKinney-Vento Liaisons to ensure appropriate connections to the schools are made. CE incorporates cultural and linguistic competencies in all engagement, assessment, and referral coordination activities.

Outreach

Street outreach functions as access points to the Coordinated Entry process and seeks to engage families and individuals who are not seeking assistance or are unable to seek assistance. Street outreach teams are trained on Coordinated Entry and the assessment process and offer CE access and assessment services to families and individuals they contact through their street outreach efforts. Outreach teams

and housing service providers work together to reach populations associated with applicable prioritization pools and engage in system-wide problem solving and mobile outreach.

After-Hours & Emergency Services

Coordinated Entry provides the ability for families and individuals to complete an assessment and schedule an appointment with a Community Solutions Specialist 24/7. If a household is experiencing an emergency outside of the scope of Coordinated Entry, they are directed to contact 211 or 911. Further, 211 staff are trained to connect households to other emergency services, such as referrals for persons fleeing or attempting to flee, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.

Coordinated Entry is used to coordinate local service providers to ensure 24 hours/7 day a week access to emergency shelters for families and individuals in need. For families with children, access to emergency shelter managed through a link to a 24 hour on-call advocate who assists with transfers to open beds that are managed through a google doc, coordinated with the CoC Housing Assessment Program. Families and individuals can walk into an emergency shelter to be assessed at any time. Agencies providing shelter may access funds in emergency situations to place unsheltered families or individuals in hotels or motels. The use of hotel/motel vouchers is intended to be used on a limited basis and paired with a permanent resource quickly. Motels may be a primary means of sheltering in times of community emergency such as a pandemic or loss of emergency shelter facility capacity.

Access to Technology

Coordinated Entry is facilitated through an online portal, www.communityhousingconnect.org. This tool is optimized for use on desktop computers, tablets, and smart phones. Additionally, partner agencies are encouraged to provide online access to Coordinated Entry.

SECTION 3: ASSESSMENT

Standardized Assessment Approach

A simple assessment allows for identification of those conditions that require immediate attention (those that pose the greatest danger or threat), while also supporting the development of a long-term housing plan. Upon review of available services and completion of the Coordinated Entry assessment, families and individuals have the option of scheduling an appointment with a Community Solutions Specialist. See Appendix C: Common Assessment Tool and Risk Assignments.

Emergency and urgent concerns identified by the family or individual are prioritized first through the provision of housing and services. Fundamental needs and the overall health of the family is assessed and prioritized for non-urgent community-based services. Assessments are completed to identify the most vulnerable households based on the number of anticipated housing placements across all resources occurring within the next sixty (60) days.

Phases of the Assessment

The assessment process progressively collects only enough consumer information to prioritize and refer consumers to available CoC housing and support services. Coordinated Entry uses the following phased approach to engage and appropriately serve families and individuals seeking assistance:

- 1. Screening (Immediately): This first phase focuses on identifying the immediate housing crisis and addressing any potential immediate needs.
- 2. Supported Solutions (0-3 days): This second phase, with the partnership of a Community Solutions Specialist, focuses on providing support to help families and individuals identify a safe,

- alternative housing option, even if temporary, at or immediately after entry into the coordinated entry system.
- 3. Housing Security Comprehensive Assessment (0-5 days): This third phase is intended to collect all information necessary to identify a family's housing and service needs with the intent to resolve the immediate housing crisis through housing referral identification, rental assistance, and support services.

Assessing Set-Aside Prioritization Pools

A phased, progressive assessment is utilized. It is completed by partners serving the population pool, offering triage, diversion, and a housing plan to every household. The assessment process identifies the household with the highest needs at that point-in-time in the prioritized group, determines if referral is appropriate based on household needs and preferences, and considers their eligibility for the program.

Additional Assessment Tools

Other assessment tools, such as the VI-SPDAT, may be required by a program or program funding source

Consumer Autonomy and Disclosure of Disability

Persons served by Coordinated Entry have the autonomy to identify whether they are uncomfortable or unable to answer any questions during the assessment process, or to refuse a referral that has been made to them. In both instances, the refusal of the consumer to respond to assessment questions or to accept a referral shall not adversely affect his or her position on the CE's prioritization list. Throughout the assessment process, consumers will not be pressured or forced to provide staff with information that they do not wish to disclose, including specific disability or medical diagnosis information. Note that some funders require collection and documentation of a consumer's disability or other characteristics or attributes as a condition for determining eligibility. Consumers who choose not to provide information in these instances are informed of the impact of not providing this information.

Homeless Preference Housing Choice Voucher Waitlist

The Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program is a program administered by MSHDA that aims to assist low income families and individuals in paying a portion of their rent. Participants are usually responsible to pay approximately 30-40% of their income toward rent. All rental units are subject to a Housing Quality Standard (HQS) inspection and both the participants and landlords are bound by the rules and regulations of the HCV Program. Since housing assistance is provided on behalf of the family or individual, participants are able to find their own housing, including single-family homes, townhouses and apartments. The HCV program includes a homeless preference waiting list, which is managed locally by The Salvation Army Social Services Housing Assessment Program (HAP).

Coordinated Entry schedules literally homeless households for an appointment to complete an HCV application with an HCV Navigator. HCV application appointments are scheduled at various locations to be as accessible as possible to applicants.

Eligible applicants are entered on the waiting list at the time of appointment if all required documentation is presented. Being on the HCV waiting list does not guarantee a voucher and those on the waitlist are required to re-certify as experiencing homelessness every 90 - 120 days to remain on the waitlist. This re-certification must occur no earlier than 30 days before the end of the 120-day period.

Required Documentation for HCV application includes:

- Letter verifying homelessness (a new letter is required during each re-certification)
- Valid Michigan ID

Additional documentation required to access a Housing Choice Voucher:

- Social security card (for all household members)
- Verification of income for the past 30-60 days
- HCV Application
- HCV Statement of Understanding
- Salvation Army Release of Information
- HCV Release of Information
- Birth certificates (for children only)

HCVs become available within a county through attrition and households are selected through a lottery system. When a consumer is selected to receive an HCV, the local MSHDA appointed housing agent for the voucher, Community Housing Advocates notifies the HCV Navigator and mails the MSHDA HCV application to the selected household. The HCV Navigator contacts the applicant to ensure they are aware and that they are prepared to complete the required paperwork.

SECTION 4: PRIORITIZATION

Coordinated Entry is committed to ensuring that no information is used to discriminate or prioritize households for housing and services on a protected basis such as race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, familial status, disability, actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identify, or marital status. Emergency services are a critical crisis response resource, and access to such services are not prioritized.

Prioritization of Risk

Once an assessment is complete, the Coordinated Entry process moves on to determine the priority for housing and supportive services. The level of vulnerability and need is determined by analyzing the information obtained from the initial assessment as well as an ongoing evaluation of risk during the case management process. This section explains how this information is managed and how prioritization decisions are made to match households with housing and services.

Risk factors utilized for prioritization of housing services through Coordinated Entry are categorized as emergencies and urgent needs. Additional information obtained on semi-urgent and non-urgent chronic needs is utilized to make additional referrals to community partners. All families and individuals having identified emergent or urgent needs are prioritized for services. In times of an emergency or disaster declaration prioritization standards may be adjusted accordingly and approved by the CE and Steering Committees.

Influential Factors

Coordinated Entry evaluates not only the material conditions related to a households housing crisis – but influential factors that impact housing instability in Kent County. To that end, Coordinated Entry additionally considers prior zip code, race/ethnicity, income and employment status, English proficiency, and healthcare access.

Emergencies: Dangerous situation (literal homeless), health related, immediate danger.

Factors include: Unsheltered homelessness, fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, removal of dependent children from the household by child welfare as a result of housing instability.

Urgent Needs: Fundamental basic needs that require immediate care including: fundamental physiological needs, food, shelter, homelessness, health (reduce barriers to meeting urgent needs).

Factors include: Temporary and inadequate housing, such as an emergency shelter, with family or friends or residing in a motel/hotel.

Semi-Urgent Needs: Overall health of household, fundamental needs of family that require attention but are not urgent.

Non-Urgent Chronic Needs: Consumer identifies and prioritizes these needs which may include risky behaviors, risky situations, and chronic conditions that need to be addressed.

The following parameters for prioritization are utilized and collected during the assessment process:

- 1. Length of Homelessness
- 2. Unsheltered location
- 3. Vulnerability
- 4. Service Utilization

By Name List Prioritization and Prioritization Pools

With the goal of driving down the number of persons experiencing homelessness and living unsheltered, a by name list is utilized with the goal of moving from data, to decision, to results. Resources are prioritized in accordance with the HUD Coordinated Entry Notice, under the authority of 24 CFR 578.7(a)(8), Notice CPD 17-01 and CPD 16-11. It is a goal of the Coordinated Entry System to be responsive to community emergencies, data, and effectively coordinate resources to make homelessness rare, brief, and non-reoccurring. It is essential that local data drive prioritization of projects chosen for funding. Funding resources are sometimes dedicated to prioritized populations based on community needs, data, and funding availability. Prioritization pools can be used to target populations like LGTBQ youth, families, Veterans with Health Conditions connected to the VA, chronically homeless, geographically targeted outreach to address an emergency, or to address a particular public health concern or emergency situation. To ensure transparency, prioritization pools must be established and approved by the Coordinated Entry (CE) Committee of the CoC. The prioritization pool can end by notifying the CE Committee that the pool is no longer needed.

Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH)

Prioritization for PSH is consistent with HUD's Prioritization/PSH Notice, CPD-16-11, July 25, 2016. Persons eligible for PSH are prioritized for available units based on the following criteria (applying the definition of chronically homeless set by HUD):

1st **priority** - Chronically homeless individuals and families with the longest history of homelessness and with the most severe service needs.

2nd Priority—Chronically homeless individuals and families with the longest history of homelessness but without severe service needs.

3rd Priority—Chronically homeless individuals and families with the most severe service needs. **4th Priority**—All other chronically homeless individuals and families not already included in priorities one (1) through three (3).

SECTION 5: REFFERAL

Referral Process

Once the prioritization process results in a household being matched to an open permanent housing program, Coordinated Entry completes a referral to the appropriate service. One of the guiding

principles of CE is consumer choice. Consumers can reject service strategies and housing options offered to them, without repercussion. Consumers are not steered toward any particular housing program, facility, or neighborhood, but are matched based on eligibility, prioritization, and consumer choice.

Veteran Referrals

All eligible veterans are referred for Supportive Services for Veteran Families (SSVF), administered by Community Rebuilders and the VOA. Referrals occur from the Veterans Administration, consumers, Grant Per Diem (GPD) providers, or shelter staff directly to Community Rebuilders or the VOA. Community Rebuilders has GPD and Contract Beds available for veterans eligible for VA resources.

Referrals for PSH

See Appendix D for Prioritization of Persons Experiencing Chronic Homelessness Policy

Prevention

Referrals to prevention housing resources available to those at risk of homelessness are also coordinated through the CE system. Households are matched to prevention resources quickly based on need and eligibility. Funders of prevention programs, or the CoC through its CE Committee, may target certain prevention resources temporarily, in response to an emergency or if system data suggests it is needed. Targeted prevention strategies are established and ended using the same process as prioritization pools.

Referrals using Dynamic Prioritization

Dynamic Prioritization is used to identify the person with the highest needs at that point-in-time in the prioritized group(s), determine if referral is appropriate based on household needs and preferences, and considers their eligibility for the program(s).

- Housing placement occurs within 60 days or as quickly as possible.
- All available CoC resources are leveraged in the most flexible manner possible.
- Project is working towards and contributes to continuous improvement of system measurements.

System Case Conferencing and By-Name List Management

A transparent list of resources (via HAP Google Doc) allows for transparent real time decision making to fill vacancies using current information about persons in the prioritized group(s).

Partners review:

- 1. What resources are available
- 2. If a single resource is available, it is matched based on availability of resources and consumer choice. The referral is made and recorded and required data is provided to HAP.
- 3. If multiple resources are available for which the consumer is eligible, service providers coordinate with HAP to choose the desired resource, making the best referral possible considering needs and consumer choice.

Internal Transfers

Housing providers at times may need to make internal transfers between projects at the same agency within the same program model type. While CE Committee approval is not required, transfers must be documented and the CE Lead, HAP, must be notified. Participants must meet eligibility requirements of the project prior to the transfer taking place.

SECTION 6: COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES

Consumers

Consumers of the CE system have a right to a fair and equal process as it relates to housing placement and services. Grievances and complaints by consumers of the system will be addressed as outlined below. The CoC values consumer feedback and believes the lived experience of those served must inform system decision-making. Those with lived experience wishing to assist in system decision-making are invited to join the CoC and CE Committee.

All participating provider agencies must have a consumer grievance policy in place, a copy of which should be made available to consumers. The policy included here is intended to cover consumer grievances related specifically to Coordinated Entry related policies, decisions, services, or activities. This policy does not address grievances involving a participating provider agency's internal policies, services, or activities. In the event a grievance is received regarding an agency's internal policies, services or activities, the grievance will be referred to the appropriate agency for resolution under the agency's grievance policy.

Each participating provider agency must make a good faith effort to resolve a Coordinated Entry-related consumer grievance as best they can in the moment. If a consumer complaint or grievance could not be resolved by provider agency staff, the following procedures shall be followed.

- 1. The provider agency shall provide the consumer with all information necessary to submit their complaint to the CoC CE Committee.
- 2. Within three (3) business days of the consumer submitting the complaint, the provider agency shall submit any additional documentation relating to the grievance, including a written statement, to the CE Committee.
- 3. The CE Committee, or an authorized ad hoc group, will review any documentation provided by the agency or consumer and attempt to mediate a solution within five (5) business days of receiving the complaint. If the CE Committee determines that a consumer grievance is not related to Coordinated Entry, it will refer the grievance to the appropriate body or agency for consideration and resolution.
- 4. The CE Committee may determine that additional investigation (including interviews, additional documentation or written statements, a grievance hearing, or other relevant sources of information) is necessary. If so, additional time beyond the five (5) working days may be required to attempt to reach a resolution.
- 5. If no mutually agreeable resolution is reached, the CE Committee will make a final decision to resolve the grievance.

If a consumer has a CE-related grievance and is not working with a particular agency at the time of the complaint, the consumer may submit a complaint directly to the CE Committee.

If a provider agency or consumer is dissatisfied with the resolution by the CE Committee, either can request review by the CoC's Steering Council.

Partner Agencies

All agencies participating in the CoC have the right to file a complaint or grievance about the operations of the coordinated entry system. The Kent County CoC maintains an agency grievance procedure outlined below to ensure an agency's complaints are dealt with promptly and in an unbiased manner. Please note, complaints regarding CoC funding applications or awards are handled separately.

If an agency in the CoC has a concern regarding the CE system, they are encouraged to first bring the matter to the attention of the parties responsible for the matter(s) at hand. It is intended that discussion between parties shall resolve identified issues. If the issue cannot be solved between parties or would require action on the part of the CE Committee or CoC, the agency must first bring the issue before the CE Committee. CoC staff and CE Committee members must attempt to resolve the issue in a timely manner. If the complainant is not satisfied by the actions taken or not taken by the CE Committee, the matter must be submitted in writing to the Steering Committee of the CoC. Decisions made by the Steering Committee are considered final.

SECTION 7: DATA SYSTEM(S)

There are many different types of data and data systems that are used to collect, manage, and report out on the persons served by CE. All data systems used to record information from a coordinated entry process meet HUD's requirements in 24 CFR 578.7(a)(8). Examples of the types of data and data systems that are used in the CE system are:

- HMIS or comparable database: Collects personally identifiable information (PII) on consumers, as well as information for the purpose of complying with Federal data collection mandates.
- Acuity Scheduling: Used to integrate appointment scheduling with Supported Solutions staff calendars. Reporting data can be pulled from the website to analyze the different data sets of appointments.
- Community Housing Connect: Used to collect necessary risk factors associated with Coordinated Entry screening assessment.
- Surveys: Used to anonymously collect consumer feedback.

HAP maintains reporting to identify the number of consumers served, referred, or rejected by each project participating in coordinated entry.

Consumer Consent Process

Data must not be collected without the consent of consumers, according to the defined privacy policies adopted by the CoC. As part of the assessment process, consumers are provided with a written copy of the MSHMIS Privacy Notice which identifies what data will be collected, what data will be shared, which agencies data will be shared with, and what the purpose of the data sharing is. Consumers will have the option to decline sharing data; doing so does not make them ineligible for CE. Please see Appendix C for a copy of the MSHMIS Privacy Notice.

Data and Privacy Protections

The same data and privacy protections that are described above are also extended to any data gathered for the purposes of evaluation. No evaluation materials may be shared if they contain consumer names or any personally identifying information. If quotes or language from consumers are used in reports, they should only be identified as an anonymous consumer, or with a changed name that could not be used to identify them.

All consumer information collected, stored, or shared in the operation of CE functions, regardless of whether or not those data are stored in HMIS, shall be considered personal and sensitive information worthy of the full force of protection and security associated with data collected, stored, or shared in HMIS. Coordinated Entry must protect all consumers' personally identifiable information (PII), as required by HUD's HMIS Data and Technical Standards, regardless of whether or not PII is stored in HMIS. All CE participating projects ensure consumers' PII will only be collected, managed, reported, and

potentially shared if those data are able to be secured in compliance with the HUD established HMIS privacy and security requirements.

SECTION 8: TRAINING AND EVALUATION

Regular trainings across participating agencies ensures consistent delivery of services with an alignment to best practices. Trainings also provide a way for providers and staff to learn from each other and to brainstorm ways to remove systemic barriers to ending homelessness. Topics for training may include the following:

- Review of CoC's written CE policies and procedures, including variations adopted for specific subpopulations;
- Requirements for use of assessment information to determine prioritization;
- Intensive training on the use of the CE assessment tool; and
- Criteria for uniform decision-making and referrals.

System Transparency and Evaluation

The Coordinated Entry Committee of the CoC is responsible for ongoing review of the CE system and makes recommendations regarding the system as needed. Any change to this policy must be first approved by the CE Committee and then approved by the Steering Committee of the CoC. System data collected through the CE process must be available to both the CE Committee and Data Analysis Committee of the CoC.

The CoC is committed to conducting regular and ongoing evaluations of Coordinated Entry. The Coordinated Entry Committee is responsible for ensuring a formal evaluation is conducted no less than annually and reported to the Steering Committee. The feedback gathered through consumer and partner agency evaluations are used to monitor the implementation of coordinated entry, ensure compliance, and update and improve processes. Evaluations include both quantitative and qualitative methods. In addition to regularly scheduled evaluations the CoC and partner agencies may conduct ad hoc evaluations on topics of importance or interest.

SECTION 9: APPENDICES

Appendix A: Sources

Notice Establishing Additional Requirements for a Continuum of Care Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System. Notice CPD-17-01. January 23, 2017.

https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Notice-CPD-17-01-Establishing-Additional-Requirements-or-a-Continuum-of-Care-Centralized-or-Coordinated-Assessment-System.pdf

Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing: Continuum of Care Program Interim Final Rule, 24 CFR Part 578. July 31, 2012.

https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/CoCProgramInterimRule FormattedVersion.pdf

Emergency Solutions Grants (ESG) Program Interim Rule:

Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapids Transition to Housing: Emergency Solutions Grant Program and Consolidated Plan Conforming Amendments, 24 CFR Parts 91 and 576. December 5, 2011. https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HEARTH_ESGInterimRuleandConPlanConformingAmendments.pdf

Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapids Transition to Housing: Defining "Chronically Homeless," 24CFR Parts 91 and 578. December 4, 2015.

https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Defining-Chronically-Homeless-Final-Rule.pdf

HUD Exchange https://www.hudexchange.info, "HMIS Data and Technical Standards," 2020. https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/3824/hmis-data-dictionary/

Notice on Prioritizing Persons Experiencing Chronic Homeless and Other Vulnerable Homeless Persons in Permanent Supportive Housing (CPD-16-11). July 25, 2016.

https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/notice-cpd-16-11-prioritizingpersons-experiencing-chronic-homelessness-and-other-vulnerable-homeless-personsin-psh.pdf

Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act (VAWA) of 2013: Implementation in HUD Housing Programs.

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/11/16/2016-25888/violence-against-women-reauthorization-act-of-2013-implementation-in-hud-housing-programs

Appendix B: Consumer Consent Form

Michigan State Homeless Management Information System (MSHMIS) Privacy Notice to Consumers:

Link to website with consumer notice information

Appendix C: Common Assessment Tool and Risk Assignments

Note this tool is designed to be iterative and predictive in nature. Once in use, the resulting data informs risk levels and predictive factors.

Influential Risk Factors

A. In the last 60 days myself or my family (predictive modeling, multiple choice)

- i. Has been concerned about losing our housing
- ii. Has changed residences more than twice
- iii. Lived with a friend or family member we do not normally reside with due to financial hardship
- iv. Faced eviction or was evicted from our current living situation
- v. Slept outside, in an abandoned building, or in our car
- vi. Stayed in an emergency shelter or motel due to financial hardship
- B. What is your housing situation today (assessing risk, single answer)
 - i. I'm staying on the street, in a vehicle, abandoned building, or park due to financial strain, or a dangerous situation related to violence in my home (high risk)
 - ii. I'm staying in an emergency shelter, with family or friends, or in a hotel or motel (elevated risk)
- C. Please tell us a little more about your situation (assessing risk, multiple choice)
 - i. Living under threat of having children removed from the home, or they have already been removed from the home (high risk)
 - ii. Lacks the financial resources and support networks to obtain housing on my own (elevated risk)
 - iii. Has had one or more prior episode of homelessness (elevated risk)
 - iv. Residing in an unhealthy physical environment (i.e. bugs, mold, lead paint/pipes, no utilities, water leaks, no smoke detectors) (elevated risk)
 - v. Not able to stay at our current location during the day (elevated risk)
 - vi. Not able to shower where we are currently staying (elevated risk)

- vii. My child or children are temporarily staying with family or friends (elevated risk)
- viii. Experiencing conflict with my landlord (base risk)
- ix. Lacks privacy where we are currently staying (base risk)
- x. Cannot store our belongings where we are currently staying (base risk)
- D. What is your family size (assessing risk)
 - i. 1 to 4 people
 - ii. 5 or more people (elevated risk)
- E. Last known permanent zip code (predictive modeling)
- F. What is your race or ethnicity (assessing risk)
 - i. Asian (base risk)
 - ii. Hispanic or Latinx (base risk)
 - iii. Native Hawaiian (base risk)
 - iv. Pacific Islander (base risk)
 - v. Black or African American (base risk)
 - vi. American Indian/Alaskan Native (base risk)
 - vii. Other (base risk)
 - viii. White
- G. Have you served in the U.S. Armed Forces (assessing risk)
 - i. Yes (high risk)
 - ii. No
- H. What language are you most comfortable speaking (assessing risk)
 - i. English
 - ii. Language other than English (elevated risk)
- I. Do you have a high school degree (assessing risk)
 - i. Yes
 - ii. No (elevated risk)
- J. What was your main activity during most of the last 12 months (assessing risk)
 - i. Worked for pay
 - ii. Attended school
 - iii. Household duties
 - iv. Unemployed (elevated risk)
 - v. Permanently unable to work (elevated risk)
 - i. Other
- K. What is your main source of health insurance (assessing risk)
 - i. Uninsured (elevated risk)
 - ii. Medicaid or Medicare (base risk)
 - iii. Private insurance

Appendix D: Prioritization of Persons Experiencing Chronic Homelessness Policy



PRIORITIZATION OF PERSONS EXPERIENCING CHRONIC HOMELESSNESS POLICY GUIDANCE

Background

The Grand Rapids Area Coalition to End Homelessness, also known as the Grand Rapids/Wyoming/Kent County Continuum of Care entity and here forward referenced as the CoC, is committed to ending homelessness across Kent County.

The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) issued *Notice CPD-16-11 on July 25, 2016*. This Notice provides guidance to Continuums of Care and recipients of CoC Program funding for permanent supportive housing (PSH) regarding the order in which eligible households should be served in all CoC Program-funded PSH. The Notice also establishes recordkeeping requirements for all recipient CoC Program-funded PSH that includes beds that are required to serve persons experiencing chronic homelessness as defined in 24 CFR 578.3, in accordance with 24 CRF 578.103.

"In order to meet the first goal of *Opening Doors*—ending chronic homelessness—it is critical that CoCs ensure that limited resources awarded through the CoC Program Competition are being used in the most effective manner and that households that are most in need of assistance are being prioritized. ... To ensure that all PSH beds funded through the CoC Program are used as strategically and effectively as possible, PSH needs to be targeted to serve persons with the highest needs and greatest barriers towards obtaining and maintaining housing on their own—persons experiencing chronic homelessness. HUD's experience has shown that many communities and recipients of CoC Program-funded PSH continue to serve persons on a 'first-come, first-serve' basis and/or based on tenant selection processes that screenin those who are most likely to succeed. These approaches to tenant selection have not been effective in reducing chronic homelessness, despite the increase in the number of PSH beds nationally." (Notice, p. 3)

To achieve the greatest impact on chronic homelessness, it is resolved that the CoC incorporates the order of priority into policy, as described in the Notice. This policy requires recipients of CoC Program- funded PSH beds that are dedicated or prioritized to serve chronically homeless persons, to follow the order of priority in accordance with the details of the Notice and in a manner consistent with their current grant agreement.

Applicability

This policy refers to permanent supportive housing units that are CoC Program funded and are dedicated or prioritized for chronic homelessness. This policy shall allow for transition time for projects that must work with additional funding source waitlist requirements, with the expectation that they will begin taking referrals from the prioritization list as quickly as possible.

Order of Priority

All CoC Program-funded PSH beds dedicated to chronically homeless households are required through the project's grant agreement to only be used to house persons experiencing chronic homelessness unless there are no persons within the CoC that meet the criteria for chronic homelessness.

CoC Program-funded PSH beds that are prioritized for chronically homeless households implement an admissions preference for chronically homeless persons.

The following outlines the order for priority for both dedicated and prioritized PSH beds for chronically homeless households:

Order of Priority for Dedicated and Prioritized Permanent Supportive Housing	Meets HUD's Chronic Homelessness Definition	Has Severe Service Needs?	Other Requirements
1	Yes	Yes	At least 12 months continuous, prioritized based on length of homelessness.
2	Yes	No	At least 12 months continuous, prioritized based on length of homelessness.
3	Yes	Yes	4 episodes of homelessness in 3 years equaling at least 12 months.
4	Yes	No	4 episodes of homelessness in 3 years equaling at least 12 months.

Identification of households experiencing chronic homeless first occurs through coordinated entry. When coordinated entry is informed of an open CoC Program-funded PSH bed that is dedicated or prioritized to a chronically homeless household, the household meeting the highest threshold of prioritization will be referred by coordinated entry to the PSH provider. Severity of need is determined by the use of a standardized assessment tool at coordinated entry, such as the SPDAT.

"CoCs that adopt the order of priority in Section III of this Notice into the CoC's written standards are strongly encouraged to use their coordinated assessment system in order to ensure that there is a single prioritized waiting list for all CoC Program-funded PSH within the CoC. Under no circumstances shall the order of priority be based upon diagnosis or disability type, but instead on the severity of needs of an individual or family." (Notice, p. 10)

At which time a referral is requested for a dedicated or prioritized bed and no chronically homeless persons can be identified within the CoC, coordinated entry will provide verification to this effect and refer the next eligible person off the registry. This will ensure that the dedicated and prioritized beds remain in compliance with this policy.

Recordkeeping Requirements

In accordance with the Notice, this policy also states that all recipients of CoC Program-funded PSH are required to document a program participant's status as chronically homeless as defined in 24 CFR 578.3 and in accordance with 24 CFR 578.103. The following is a list of required records for each recipient to maintain:

- 1. Written intake procedures
- 2. Evidence of chronically homeless status
 - a. Evidence of homeless status
 - b. Evidence of duration of homelessness
 - i. Evidence that the homeless occasion was continuous, for at least one year
 - ii. Evidence that the household experienced at least four separate homeless occasions over 3 years
 - c. Evidence of diagnosis with one or more of the following conditions: substance use disorder, serious mental illness, developmental disability (as defined in Section 102 of the Developmental Disabilities Assistance Bill of Rights Act of 2000 (42 U.S.C. 15002), post-traumatic stress disorder, cognitive impairments resulting from brain injury, or chronic physical illness or disability
- 3. Evidence of cumulative length of occasions
- 4. Evidence of severe service needs, as determined with a standardized assessment tool
- 5. Evidence that the recipient is following the CoC's written standards for prioritizing assistance

Policy Approved by Steering Council: August 19, 2016